# Supreme Court No. (to be set) Court of Appeals No. 45833-1-II IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON, Respondent,

VS.

B.J.C.

Appellant/Petitioner

Cowlitz County Superior Court Cause No. 13-8-00274-7 The Honorable Judge Gary Bashor

## **PETITION FOR REVIEW**

Manek R. Mistry Jodi R. Backlund Skylar T. Brett Attorneys for Appellant/Petitioner

## **BACKLUND & MISTRY**

P.O. Box 6490 Olympia, WA 98507 (360) 339-4870 backlundmistry@gmail.com

#

IV.	STATEMENT OF THE CASE	
v.	ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED4	
with sig pul 13.  B. shows B.J. con	Infession was involuntary. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts th U.S. Supreme Court precedent. Furthermore, this case raises inificant questions of constitutional law that are of substantial polic interest and should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP (b)(1), (3), and (4)	
sub	ses significant questions of constitutional law that are of estantial public interest and should be determined by the Supreme urt. RAP 13.4 (b)(1), (3), and (4)	
hin cor rais sub	The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the trial art violated B.J.C.'s right to substantive due process by ordering a to register as a sex offender. The Court of Appeals decision afflicts with U.S. Supreme Court precedent. Furthermore, this case ses significant questions of constitutional law that are of estantial public interest and should be determined by the Supreme aurt. RAP 13.4 (b)(1), (3), and (4).	

coı	The Supreme Court should accept review and hourt violated the 150% rule for juvenile disposition ises an issue of substantial public interest that should be a substantial public interest that should be	s. This case
	the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4 (b)(4)	
VI.	CONCLUSION	18
Annenc	div. Court of Anneals Decision	

## **TABLE OF AUTHORITIES**

# FEDERAL CASES Application of Gault, 387 U.S. 1, 87 S.Ct. 1428, 18 L.Ed.2d 527 (1967). 4, 5, 6 Aptheker v. Sec'y of State, 378 U.S. 500, 84 S.Ct. 1659, 12 L.Ed.2d 992 Attorney Gen. of New York v. Soto-Lopez, 476 U.S. 898, 106 S.Ct. 2317, Lawrence v. Texas, 539 U.S. 558, 123 S.Ct. 2472, 156 L.Ed.2d 508 (2003) Sabri v. United States, 541 U.S. 600, 124 S.Ct. 1941, 158 L.Ed.2d 891 Withrow v. Williams, 507 U.S. 680, 113 S.Ct. 1745, 123 L.Ed.2d 407 **WASHINGTON STATE CASES** Macias v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. of State of Wash., 100 Wn.2d 263, 668

State v. Porter, 133 Wn.2d 177, 942 P.2d 974 (1997)
State v. Pray, 96 Wn. App. 25, 980 P.2d 240 (1999), review denied, 139 Wn.2d 1010 (1999)
State v. Sargent, 111 Wn.2d 641, 762 P.2d 1127 (1988)
State v. Tim S., 41 Wn. App. 60, 701 P.2d 1120 (1985)
State v. Unga, 165 Wn.2d 95, 196 P.3d 645 (2008)
State v. Williams, 135 Wn.2d 365, 957 P.2d 216 (1998) 5, 6, 17
CONSTITUTIONAL PROVISIONS
U.S. Const. Amend. I
U.S. Const. Amend. V
U.S. Const. Amend. XIV
Wash. Const. art. I, § 3
WASHINGTON STATUTES
RCW 13.40.180
RCW 9.94A.589
RCW 9A.44 132
RCW 9A.44.12811
RCW 9A.44.130
RCW 9A.44.132
RCW 9A.44.143
OTHER AUTHORITIES
Amanda Y. Agan, Sex Offender Registries: Fear Without Function?, 54  J.L. & Econ. 207 (2011)

Amy E. Halbrook, Juvenile Pariahs, 65 Hastings L.J. 1 (2013)
Christine S. Scott-Hayward, Explaining Juvenile False Confessions:  Adolescent Development and Police Interrogation, 31 Law & Psychol.  Rev. 53 (2007)
Chrysanthi, et al, Net-Widening in Delaware: The Overuse of Registration and Residential Treatment for Youth Who Commit Sex Offenses, 17 Widener L. Rev. 127 (2011)
Donna D. Schram & Cheryl Darling Milloy, Wash. State Inst. for Pub. Pol'y, Community Notification: A Study of Offender Characteristics and Recidivism (1995)
Elizabeth J. Letourneau & Kevin S. Armstrong, <i>Recidivism Rates for Registered and Nonregistered Juvenile Sex Offenders</i> , 20 Sexual Abuse: J. Res. & Treatment 393 (2008)
Elizabeth J. Letourneau et al., <i>The Influence of Sex Offender Registration on Juvenile Sexual Recidivism</i> , 20 Crim. Just. Pol'y Rev. 136 (2009). 15
Franklin E. Zimring et al., Investigating the Continuity of Sex Offending:  Evidence from the Second Philadelphia Birth Cohort Study, 26 Just. Q. 58 (2009)
Franklin E. Zimring et al., Sexual Delinquency in Racine: Does Early Sex Offending Predict Later Sex Offending in Youth and Young Adulthood?, 6 Criminology & Pub. Pol'y 507 (2007)
J.J. Prescott & Jonah E. Rockoff, Do Sex Offender Registration and Notification Laws Affect Criminal Behavior?, 54 J.L. & Econ. 161 (2011)
Joshua A. Tepfer, Laura H. Nirider, Lynda M. Tricarico, Arresting  Development: Convictions of Innocent Youth, 62 Rutgers L. Rev. 887  (2010)
Michael F. Caldwell et al., An Examination of the Sex Offender Registration and Notification Act as Applied to Juveniles: Evaluating the Ability to Predict Sexual Recidivism, 14 Psychol. Pub. Pol'y & L. 89 (2008)

•

Michael F. Caldwell, Sexual Offense Adjudication and Sexual Recidivism	
Among Juvenile Offenders, 19 Sex	Abuse 107 (2007) 13
Molly J. Walker Wilson, The Expansi	ion of Criminal Registries and the
Illusion of Control, 73 La. L. Rev.	509 (2013)
RAP 13.4	4, 6, 8, 9, 16, 18
Richard A. Paladino, The Adam Wals	h Act As Applied to Juveniles: One
Size Does Not Fit All, 40 Hofstra L	. Rev. 269 (2011) 12

## I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER

Petitioner B.J.C., the appellant below, asks the Court to review the decision of Division II of the Court of Appeals referred to in Section II below.

## II. COURT OF APPEALS DECISION

B.J.C. seeks review of the Court of Appeals opinion entered on August 25, 2015. A copy of the opinion is attached.

## III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

**ISSUE 1:** Would a reasonable 13-year-old feel free to terminate an interrogation and walk away from police who separate him from his family and accuse him of lying?

**ISSUE 2:** Should the trial court have suppressed thirteen-year-old B.J.C.'s involuntary confession, extracted without benefit of *Miranda* warnings?

**ISSUE 3:** Does Washington's sex-offender registration requirement violate substantive due process as applied to juvenile offenders?

**ISSUE 4:** Did the sentencing court exceed its statutory authority by imposing more than 150% of the term for the more serious of two offenses that comprised the same criminal conduct?

## IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

B.J.C. had recently turned thirteen when two police officers knocked on the door of his apartment. RP 25. The officers directed him to leave the apartment and his adult caregivers. RP 16. The officers asked the boy to lead them to a place where they could talk. RP 20-21.

B.J.C. took the officers to the courtyard area of his apartment complex. RP 52. The officers asked him about alleged sexual contact with a seven-year-old relative he had recently babysat. RP 53. When B.J.C. denied any sexual contact, the officers said they did not believe him. RP 54. They claimed they already had information from the alleged victim that contradicted his statement. RP 54, 70-71. After that, B.J.C. said that he had taken a shower with the child. CP 54-56. The officers elicited more and more detail from him. RP 54-56. At one point, an officer asked B.J.C. specifically if he had put his penis in the alleged victim's mouth and he said yes. RP 74.

The officers did not read B.J.C. his *Miranda* rights. RP 17. They never asked him if he wanted to talk to his parents or to an attorney. RP 17-18. They did not tell him that what he said could be used to prosecute

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>1</sup> The officers did tell B.J.C. he could terminate questioning. RP 18.

him for a crime.<sup>2</sup> RP 17-18. Instead, the officers told B.J.C. that they had no intention of arresting him. RP 12, 21.

The state charged B.J.C. with two counts of rape of a child in the first degree and one count of child molestation in the first degree. CP 1-2. The two rape counts were based exclusively on the information in B.J.C.'s confession.<sup>3</sup> *See* RP 70-74, 77-100, 119-24, 139-208.

Each of the counts derived from an alleged series of events taking place during a period of a few minutes in the bathroom at the alleged victim's home. RP 54-57.

B.J.C. moved to suppress his statements, arguing that they were not voluntary and that he was subjected to custodial interrogation without the benefit of *Miranda*. CP 3-10. The court admitted the statements. CP CP 43. The court recognized that it would be reasonable for a thirteen year old to believe he was in custody, but refused to suppress the statements. CP 43. The court found dispositive the fact that B.J.C. had chosen the location of the interrogation. CP 43.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> B.J.C. did not have any prior convictions. CP 22.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> One rape count was dismissed because the state did not present any independent evidence of the *corpus delicti* of the offense. CP 22. During trial, however, the alleged victim said for the first time that B.J.C. had put his penis in her mouth, allowing the second count to go forward. RP 96.

The court found B.J.C. guilty of one count of rape of a child and one count of child molestation. CP 22. The court ordered B.J.C. to register as a sex offender. CP 30. The court sentenced B.J.C. to two consecutive terms of fifteen to thirty-six weeks' confinement. CP 27.

B.J.C. appealed, and the Court of Appeals affirmed his conviction and sentence. CP 34; Opinion, pp. 1, 12.

## V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE ACCEPTED

A. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that B.J.C.'s confession was involuntary. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with U.S. Supreme Court precedent. Furthermore, this case raises significant questions of constitutional law that are of substantial public interest and should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4 (b)(1), (3), and (4).

To be voluntary, a confession must be the product of rational intellect and free will. *State v. Sargent*, 111 Wn.2d 641, 660, 762 P.2d 1127 (1988). In cases involving juveniles, "the greatest care must be taken" to ensure that any confession is voluntary. *Application of Gault*, 387 U.S. 1, 55, 87 S.Ct. 1428, 18 L.Ed.2d 527 (1967); *see also State v. Unga*, 165 Wn.2d 95, 103, 196 P.3d 645 (2008).

Voluntariness includes not only freedom from coercion, but also assurance that the confession "was not the product of ignorance of rights

or of adolescent fantasy, fright or despair." *Gault*, 387 U.S. at 55.<sup>4</sup> A juvenile's statement to the police is likely involuntary if the juvenile does not understand that it could be used in court to support criminal charges. *State v. Tim S.*, 41 Wn. App. 60, 64, 701 P.2d 1120 (1985).

Voluntariness is analyzed under the totality of the circumstances, including the length and location of the interrogation, the maturity and education of the accused, and the failure of police to advise the accused of his/her rights. *Withrow v. Williams*, 507 U.S. 680, 693-94, 113 S.Ct. 1745, 123 L.Ed.2d 407 (1993). In cases involving children, the absence of a child's parents during interrogation is also relevant. *See e.g. Gault*, 387 U.S. at 56.

B.J.C.'s statement to the police was not voluntary.

He did not have any prior convictions. CP 22. He was thirteen years old at the time of his interrogation. RP 25. The officers isolated him from his adult caregivers. RP 16. They assured him that they were not there to arrest him. RP 12, 21. They did not warn him that he was at risk of criminal prosecution, that his statements could be used against him, or that he had the right to an attorney. RP 12, 21.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Research has "cast formidable doubt upon the reliability and trustworthiness of 'confessions' by children." *Id.* at 52; *See also e.g.* Joshua A. Tepfer, Laura H. Nirider, Lynda M. Tricarico, *Arresting Development: Convictions of Innocent Youth*, 62 Rutgers L. Rev. 887, 904 (2010); Christine S. Scott-Hayward, *Explaining Juvenile False Confessions: Adolescent Development and Police Interrogation*, 31 Law & Psychol. Rev. 53, 56 (2007).

Examining the totality of the circumstances, B.J.C.'s statements to the police were not voluntary. *Williams*, 507 U.S. at 693-94; *Gault*, 387 U.S. at 56. Considering his age, the isolation from other adults, the lack of *Miranda* warnings, and the officer's assurance that he would not be arrested, B.J.C. did not know that his statements could be used to convict him of a crime. This mitigates a finding of voluntariness. *Tim S.*, 41 Wn. App. at 64. B.J.C.'s confession was not the product of rational intellect and free will but of inexperience, immaturity, and ignorance of his rights. *Gault*, 387 U.S. at 55; *Sargent*, 111 Wn.2d at 660.

The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that B.J.C.'s statements to the police were not voluntary. *Williams*, 507 U.S. at 693-94. This case raises significant constitutional issues that are of substantial public interest. Furthermore, the Court of Appeals decision conflicts with the holdings of *Gault* and *Williams*. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

B. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that police should have administered *Miranda* warnings prior to extracting B.J.C.'s custodial confession. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with U.S. Supreme Court precedent. Furthermore, this case raises significant questions of constitutional law that are of substantial public interest and should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4 (b)(1), (3), and (4).

The Fifth Amendment prohibits the admission of evidence that is the fruit custodial interrogation without the benefit of *Miranda* warnings. *State v. Hickman*, 157 Wn. App. 767, 772, 238 P.3d 1240 (2010).

Unwarned custodial statements are presumptively involuntary. *Id.*Questions reasonably likely to elicit an incriminating response constitute interrogation. *State v. Godsey*, 131 Wn. App. 278, 285, 127 P.3d 11 (2006).

A juvenile is "in custody" for *Miranda* purposes if a reasonable person of the same age would not have felt free to terminate the interrogation and leave. *J.D.B. v. N. Carolina*, 131 S.Ct. 2394, 2402, 180 L.Ed.2d 310 (2011). The juvenile's age informs the analysis because a reasonable child can feel pressured to submit to police interrogation even when a reasonable adult would feel free to go. *Id.* at 2403. Indeed "events that would leave a man cold and unimpressed can overawe and overwhelm a lad in his early teens." *Id.* (internal citation omitted).

B.J.C. was in custody during his interrogation. A reasonable thirteen year old would not have felt free to leave. *J.D.B.*, 131 S.Ct. at 2402. Two officers interrogated B.J.C. away from the adults in his home. RP 16. The officers did not *Mirandize* him. RP 17. When B.J.C. answered their questions in a way that they did not like, the officers

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>5</sup> The officers told B.J.C. that he could stop answering questions at any time. RP 18. But they did not tell him that he could walk away. RP 17-18. Nor did they tell him that he had the right to an attorney, that he could be charged with a crime, or that his statements could be used against him in court. RP 17-18.

confronted him with contrary information and indicated that they thought he was lying. RP 54, 70-71.

Under these circumstances, a reasonable thirteen-year-old would not have felt entitled to terminate the interrogation and walk away. *J.D.B.*, 131 S.Ct. at 2402. The officers exerted their authority over B.J.C. in a manner to which a middle-schooler is trained to submit. Just as a young teen is not free to walk away from the principal's office when being disciplined, a reasonable thirteen-year-old would have felt constrained to cooperate and answer the officers' questions. B.J.C. was in custody during his interrogation by the police. *J.D.B.*, 131 S.Ct. at 2402.

The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that B.J.C. was subjected to custodial interrogation without the benefit of *Miranda* warnings. *Hickman*, 157 Wn. App. at 772. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with *J.D.B.* Furthermore, this case raises significant constitutional issues that are of substantial public interest. RAP 13.4(b)(1), (3), and (4).

C. The Supreme Court should accept review and hold that the trial court violated B.J.C.'s right to substantive due process by ordering him to register as a sex offender. The Court of Appeals decision conflicts with U.S. Supreme Court precedent. Furthermore, this case raises significant questions of constitutional law that are of substantial public interest and should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4 (b)(1), (3), and (4).

Due process guarantees the fundamental right to travel. *Aptheker* v. *Sec'y of State*, 378 U.S. 500, 505, 84 S.Ct. 1659, 12 L.Ed.2d 992 (1964); *Attorney Gen. of New York v. Soto-Lopez*, 476 U.S. 898, 901, 106 S.Ct. 2317, 90 L.Ed.2d 899 (1986); U.S. Const. Amends. V, XIV; Wash. Const. art. I, § 3. The right to travel includes the right to travel within a state. *State v. Enquist*, 163 Wn. App. 41, 50, 256 P.3d 1277 (2011). The constitution also guarantees a fundamental right to freedom of movement. *State v. J.D.*, 86 Wn. App. 501, 506, 937 P.2d 630 (1997). That right is rooted in due process and the First Amendment freedom of association. *Id*.

A statute that burdens the fundamental rights to travel and to freedom of movement is subject to strict scrutiny. *Macias v. Dep't of Labor & Indus. of State of Wash.*, 100 Wn.2d 263, 273, 668 P.2d 1278 (1983); *J.D.*, 86 Wn. App. at 508. A state law implicates the right to travel if it indirectly burdens exercise of that right by creating "any classification which serves to penalize the exercise of the right." *Soto-Lopez*, 476 U.S. at 903 (internal citations omitted). A statute burdening a

fundamental right cannot survive strict scrutiny unless it is narrowly tailored to meet a compelling state interest. *Lawrence v. Texas*, 539 U.S. 558, 593, 123 S.Ct. 2472, 156 L.Ed.2d 508 (2003); *J.D.*, 86 Wn. App. at 508.

The right to travel is one of the few rights so fundamental that statutes burdening it are subject to facial overbreadth challenges. *Sabri v. United States*, 541 U.S. 600, 610, 124 S.Ct. 1941, 158 L.Ed.2d 891 (2004) (*citing Aptheker* 378 U.S. 500). Litigants may challenge an overbroad statute even if it could constitutionally be applied to them. *Id.* 

Governmental intrusions into fundamental rights may not sweep unnecessarily broadly: "precision must be the touchstone of legislation affecting freedoms." *Aptheker*, 378 U.S. at 508, 514 (internal citation omitted). A statute is not narrowly tailored if other reasonable ways to achieve the state's purpose would impose a lesser burden on constitutionally protected activity. *Soto-Lopez*, 476 U.S. at 909-10.

The sex offender registration requirements place a burden on the fundamental rights to travel and to freedom of movement. RCW 9A.44.130; RCW 9A.44 132. The registration statute requires that an offender with a fixed residence register the address at which s/he spends a

majority of the week.<sup>6</sup> RCW 9A.44.128(5) (defining "fixed residence" as the place where the person spends the majority of the week); RCW 9A.44.130(4). A registered sex offender with a fixed address cannot travel away from home for more than three nights. By leaving home for more than three days, the person would likely be at risk of criminal prosecution.<sup>7</sup> RCW 9A.44.132.

The purpose of the registration scheme "is to assist law enforcement agencies' efforts to protect their communities against reoffense by convicted sex offenders." *State v. Pray*, 96 Wn. App. 25, 28, 980 P.2d 240 (1999), *review denied*, 139 Wn.2d 1010 (1999). Assuming this is a compelling interest, the statute nonetheless violates substantive due process because it is not narrowly tailored to meet that aim. *Aptheker*, 378 U.S. at 508.

1. The requirement that juveniles register as sex offenders is not narrowly tailored because it burdens a fundamental right without considering the "relevant characteristic" of youth.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> A person without a fixed residence must register as a transient and check in with the county sheriff once a week. RCW 9A.44.128(9); RCW 9A.44.130(5).

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>7</sup> The statute does not make clear whether a person with a fixed address may re-register temporarily at a place s/he stayed while traveling. The statutory scheme does not anticipate re-registration unless the person has changed or lost his/her fixed residence. *See* RCW 9A.44.130(4)-(5). Even if temporary re-registration were permitted by the statute, the requirement would still place a burden on the rights to travel and to freedom of movement. Accordingly, the statute would need to be narrowly tailored to meet a compelling state interest.

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