NO. 92214-4 COA NO. 45833-1-II Cowlitz Co. Cause NO. 13-8-00274-7

SUPREME COURT OF STATE OF WASHINGTON

STATE OF WASHINGTON,

Respondent,

v.

B.J.C.,

Appellant/Petitioner.

RESPONSE TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

RYAN JURVAKAINEN
Prosecuting Attorney
LACEY LINCOLN/WSBA 41295
Deputy Prosecuting Attorney
Representing Respondent

HALL OF JUSTICE 312 SW FIRST KELSO, WA 98626 (360) 577-3080

A. IDENTITY OF RESPONDENT

The respondent is the State of Washington, represented by Lacey L. Lincoln, Deputy Prosecuting Attorney for Ryan Jurvakainen, Cowlitz County Prosecuting Attorney.

B. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

- 1. Is the decision of the Court of Appeals in conflict with a previous decision of the Supreme Court?
- 2. Is the decision of the Court of Appeals in conflict with a previous decision of the Court of Appeals?
- 3. Does the decision of the Court of Appeals involve a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the Constitution of the United States?
- 4. Does the petition involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court?

C. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

For the purposes of the answer to the petition for discretionary review by the Supreme Court of Washington, the State generally concurs with the Statement of the Case set forth by Appellant's counsel. However, the State would also incorporate the Brief of Respondent by reference as well. B.J.C. now asks this court to accept review of the Court of Appeals decision affirming the adjudications for Rape of a Child in the first degree and Child Molestation in the first degree.

D. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

A petition for review will be accepted by the Supreme Court only:

(1) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of the Supreme Court; or (2) If the decision of the Court of Appeals is in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals, or (3) If a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or of the United States is involved; or (4) If the petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court. RAP 13.4(b).

1. The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with a decision of the United State's Supreme Court.

B.J.C. argues the Court of Appeals, Division II's decision conflicts with two United State's Supreme Court cases. First, it is argued B.J.C.'s confession was not voluntary under the standard laid out in *Application of Gault*, 387 U.S. 1, 875. Ct. 1428 (1967) and *Withrow v. Williams*, 507 U.S. 680, 113 S.Ct. 1745 (1993).

The inquiry for determining the voluntariness of a confession is "whether, under the totality of the circumstances, the confession was coerced." *State v. Broadaway*, 133 Wn.2d 118, 942 P.2d 363 (1997) (citing *Arizona v. Fulminante*, 499 U.S. 279, 111 S.Ct. 1246, 113 L.Ed.2d 302 (1991)). Thus, "coercive police activity is a necessary predicate to the

finding that a confession is not 'voluntary." *State v. Unga*, 165 Wn.2d 95, 196, P.3d 645 (2008) (quoting *Connelly*, 479 U.S. at 167). As a result, absent oppressive police conduct¹ "causally related to the confession, there is simply no basis for concluding" a confession is not voluntary. *Colorado v. Conelley*, 479 U.S. 157, 1075, S.Ct 515 (1986).

In assessing the totality of the circumstances, a court may consider the suspect's physical condition, education, age, mental health, experience, and the conduct of the police to include any "promises or misrepresentations made by the interrogating officers." *Broadaway*, 133 Wn.2d at 132; *Unga*, 165 Wn.2d at 101-03. Promises, misrepresentations, or deception on the part of police to secure a confession, however, does not entail that the confession was not voluntary, because "[t]he question is whether the interrogating officer's statements were so manipulative or coercive that they

¹ E.g., Mincey v. Arizona, 437 U.S. 385, 98 S.Ct. 2408, 57 L.Ed.2d 290 (1978) (defendant subjected to 4-hour interrogation while incapacitated and sedated in intensive-care unit); Greenwald v. Wisconsin, 390 U.S. 519, 88 S.Ct. 1152, 20 L.Ed.2d 77 (1968) (defendant, on medication, interrogated for over 18 hours without food or sleep); Beecher v. Alabama, 389 U.S. 35, 88 S.Ct. 189, 19 L.Ed.2d 35 (1967) (police officers held gun to the head of wounded confessant to extract confession); Davis v. North Carolina, 384 U.S. 737, 86 S.Ct. 1761, 16 L.Ed.2d 895 (1966) (16 days of incommunicado interrogation in closed cell without windows, limited food, and coercive tactics); Reck v. Pate, 367 U.S. 433, 81 S.Ct. 1541, 6 L.Ed.2d 948 (1961) (defendant held for four days with inadequate food and medical attention until confession obtained); Culombe v. Connecticut, 367 U.S. 568, 81 S.Ct. 1860, 6 L.Ed.2d 1037 (1961) (defendant held for five days of repeated questioning during which police employed coercive tactics); Payne v. Arkansas, 356 U.S. 560, 78 S.Ct. 844, 2 L.Ed.2d 975 (1958) (defendant held incommunicado for three days with little food; confession obtained when officers informed defendant that Chief of Police was preparing to admit lynch mob into jail); Ashcraft v. Tennessee, 322 U.S. 143, 64 S.Ct. 921, 88 L.Ed. 1192 (1944) (defendant questioned by relays of officers for 36 hours without an opportunity for sleep).

deprived the suspect of his ability to make an unconstrained, autonomous decision to confess." *Unga*, 165 Wn.2d at 102 (citation and quotations omitted).

Gault and Williams both concern suspects who were taken to a police station or detention facility by police for questioning. Gault 387 U.S. at 1431; Williams 507 U.S. at 1748. This is a distinct difference from the current case and the statements made as the police did not remove BJC to a police station or detention facility, instead he was questioned while at home. RP 12. Here, there is no evidence, nor even allegations, of oppressive police behavior resulting in a coerced confession by B.J.C.. Detective Fletcher simply questioned B.J.C. about the incident and confronted him when B.J.C.'s version of the events conflicted with the victim's disclosures. RP 24. The interview was in a conversational tone, without raised voices. RP 23. As there was no coercive police activity causing B.J.C. to confess involuntarily, there is no conflict with existing case law.

Second, it is argued B.J.C. should have been found to be in custody during the interview with police officers based upon the standard outlined in *J.D.B. v. North Carolina*, 131 S.Ct. 2394 (2011).

When comparing the facts and circumstances surrounding J.D.B.'s questioning to the facts and circumstances presented in B.J.C., a large divergence is present. JDB was questioned for a second time within a week

when "removed from his classroom at school by a uniformed police officer and escorted to a closed-door conference room." J.D.B. 131 S.Ct at 2399. Also, there were four adults present, two officers and two school administrators. *Id.* The officer also warned JDB he may seek a secure custody order if he believed JDB would continue to break into other homes, further explaining, that meant JDB would get sent to juvenile detention before court which then prompted JDB's confession. *Id* at 2400.

In the present case, the detectives questioned B.J.C. near his residence in civilian clothing with their firearms, badges and handcuffs concealed underneath their jackets. RP 12-13. B.J.C. was informed answering questions was voluntary and he was free to stop the questioning at any time and return inside his residence. RP 12. Moreover, B.J.C. was specifically told he was not under arrest and the officers had no plans on arresting him. RP 12. The detectives did not restrain B.J.C. in any way, whether by physical force or threats. RP 12-13. B.J.C. was not handcuffed. RP 13. Finally, B.J.C. led the officers to an area away from their initial contact point at the front door of his residence in which he appeared comfortable to speak. RP 12. B.J.C. took them down the stairs, across the courtyard, to the pool area. RP 12.

While JDB says a juvenile's age that is known or would have been objectively apparent to a reasonable officer can be included in determining

whether or not a juvenile is in custody, it further state it is not determinative, nor even a significant factor in every case. JDB 131 S.Ct at 2406. Here, there are drastic differences between the circumstances, including the location of the questioning, the persons present, the information given to the suspect and the freedom of movement allowed by the officers.

Based on this, there is no conflict between current U.S. Supreme Court case law and the decision of the Court of Appeals, Division II, thus the Court should not grant review on this basis.

- 2. The decision of the Court of Appeals is not in conflict with another decision of the Court of Appeals.
- B.J.C. does not argue there is a conflict with other Court of Appeal decisions at issue in this appeal. Therefore, review should not be granted on this basis.
 - 3. The decision of the Court of Appeals does not involve a significant question of law under the Constitution of the State of Washington or the Constitution of the United States.
- B.J.C. argues there is a significant question of law under the United States or Washington State constitution at issue in this appeal because his right to travel is curtailed as he is required to register as a sex offender.

The constitutionality of a statute is reviewed de novo. *City of Spokane v. Neff*, 152 Wn.2d 85, 93 P.3d 158 (2004). A reviewing court "will presume that a statute is constitutional and it will make every

presumption in favor of constitutionality where the statute's purpose is to promote safety and welfare, and the statute bears a reasonable and substantial relationship to that purpose." *State v. Glas*, 147 Wn.2d 410, 54 P.3d 147 (2002); *State v. Lee*, 135 Wn.2d 369, 957 P.2d 741 (1998). "If possible, a statute must be interpreted in a manner that upholds its constitutionality." *State v. Halstein*, 122 Wn.2d 109, 857 P.2d 270 (1993) (*following Tacoma v. Luvene*, 118 Wn.2d 826, 827 P.2d 1374 (1992), *State v. Dixon*, 78 Wn.2d 796, 479 P.2d 931 (1971)).

"A statute is overbroad if it sweeps constitutionally protected free speech within its prohibitions and there is no way to sever its unconstitutional applications. *Lee*, 135 Wn.2d at 387 (following State v. Talley, 122 Wn.2d 192, 858 P.2d 117 (1993), City of Seattle v. Huff, 111 Wn.2d 923, 767 P.2d 572 (1989)). Where a court finds that a statute is unconstitutional "as applied," the statute cannot be applied again under similar circumstances. City of Redmond v. Moore, 151 Wn.2d 664, 91 P.3d 875 (2004). If a court finds a statute facially unconstitutional, the statue must be struck down. *Id.* However, if there are circumstances in which a statute can be constitutionally applied, a facial challenge must be rejected. *Id.*

If a fundamental right is at issue, the State must have a compelling interest to justify the statute that limits this right. *State v. Schimelpfenig*,

128 Wn. App. 224, 115 P.3d 338 (2005). The right to travel is a fundamental right and subject to strict scrutiny. *Kent v. Dulles*, 357 U.S. 116, 78 S.Ct. 1113, 2 L.3d.2d 1204 (1958); *City of Seattle v. McConahy*, 86 Wn. App. 557, 937 P.2d 1113, *review denied*, 113 Wn.2d 1018, 948 P.2d 338 (1997). "A state law implicates the right to travel when it *actually* deters such travel and where impeding travel *is its primary objective.*" *State v. Enquist*, 163 Wn. App. 41 (2011), *review denied*, 173 Wn.2d 1008 (2012) (*emphasis added*).

In the present matter, B.J.C,'s contention that RCW 9A.44.130 is unconstitutionally overbroad is without merit. B.J.C. cannot demonstrate beyond a reasonable doubt that RCW 9A.44.130 is facially invalid or unconstitutional "as applied." First, despite B.J.C.'s argument, and as previously recognized by the courts, the State does have a compelling interest that justifies the statute. "The statute was enacted to 'assist local law enforcement agencies' efforts to protect their communities by regulating sex offenders." *Enquist*, 163 Wn. App. at 51 (*quoting* Laws of 1990 ch. 3, § 401). "Impeding travel *has never* been RCW 9A.44.130's primary goal." *Id.* (*emphasis added*).

Furthermore, the failure to register as a sex offender statute does not contain any provisions that intend the impediment or restriction of travel. Likewise, the statute does not actually prevent B.J.C. from traveling. B.J.C.

is not prohibited from moving his residence, nor is he prohibited from moving to a different city, county, or state. "The statute...permits a registrant to travel or move out of the state for work or educational purposes, if he...timely registers with the new state and notifies the sheriff of the last Washington county in which he registered." *Id*.

B.J.C. claims that he cannot be away from his primary residence for more than three nights. *Appellant's Brief* at 12. This is an unfounded legal conclusion contrary to the prevailing case law. "A residence 'is the place where a person lives as either a temporary or permanent dwelling, a place to which one intends to return, as distinguished from a place of temporary sojourn or transient visit." *State v. Pickett*, 95 Wn. App. 475, 975 P.2d 584 (1999). B.J.C. can maintain a residence *and* travel to another location. For example, under the above definition of "residence," B.J.C. could travel to Seattle for four weeks as long as he intends on returning to his residence. He is not required to re-register when he goes on vacation. He has no duty to notify law enforcement when he travels. RCW 9A.44.130 requires B.J.C. to register only when he changes his primary residence or ceases to have a fixed residence. B.J.C. fails to provide any evidence that RCW 9A.44.130 restricts his ability to travel.

As there is no significant question of law under either the Washington State Constitution or the United States Constitution, review should not be granted on this basis.

4. The decision of the Court of Appeals does not involve an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court.

B.J.C. argues his petition involves an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court as the trial court violated the 150% rule for juvenile dispositions.

RCW 13.40.180 states in pertinent part, "where a disposition in a single disposition order is imposed on a youth for two or more offenses, the terms shall run consecutively." The statute limits itself and requires "where the offenses were committed through a single act or omission, or through an act or omission which itself constituted one of the offenses and also was an element of the other, the aggregate of all the terms shall not exceed one hundred fifty percent of the term imposed for the most serious offense." *Id.* However, if the crimes were not a single act or omission, "the aggregate of all consecutive terms shall not exceed three hundred percent of the term imposed for the most serious offense." *Id.*

Importantly, "[d]espite differences in terminology, the tests for determining whether the phrases 'same course of conduct' used in the

juvenile justice act and 'same criminal conduct' used in the Sentencing Reform Act are essentially the same." *State v. Contreras*, 124 Wn.2d 74, 748, 880 P.2d 1000 (1994).

A finding that the offenses did not encompass the "same criminal conduct" will be reversed by an appellate court only when there is a clear abuse of discretion or misapplication of the law. *State v. French*, 157 Wn.2d 593, 141 P.3d 54 (2006). A court will consider two or more crimes the "same criminal conduct" if they: (1) require the same criminal intent, (2) are committed at the same time and place, and (3) involve the same victim. *Id.* The absence of any one of the prongs prevents a finding of "same criminal conduct." *State v. Vike*, 125 Wn.2d 407, 885 P.2d 824 (1994); *State v. Lessley*, 118 Wn.2d 773, 827 P.2d 996 (1992). Courts "must narrowly construe RCW 9.94A.589(1)(a) to disallow most assertions of same criminal conduct." *State v. Price*, 103 Wn.App 845, 14 P.3d 841 (2000); *State v. Wilson*, 136 Wn.App 596, 150 P.3d 144 (2007).

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